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The Hagiographie Programme of the Mosaics in the 
South Dôme of San Marco atVenice
John Osborne, University of Victoria

Résumé
es mosaïques du douzième siècle dans l'église de San Marco à 
Venise ont été le sujet de plusieurs études récentes, notam­
ment celle d’Otto Demus ( 1984), qui ont essayé d’y trouver un 

programme intégral. Mais le sens de la décoration de la coupole sud - 
quatre saints masculins (Nicolas, Clément, Biaise et Léonard), figurés 
debout, contre un fond d'or - est resté mystérieux, sans rapport évi­
dent avec les autres mosaïques à l'intérieur de l'église. Demus les re­
jette comme une «anomalie», «la partie de la décoration la plus 
désappointante». Cet article proposera, par contre, qu'il existe un élé­
ment unifiant, partagé par ces quatre saints, qui peut expliquer leur 
choix: leur importance au mouvement pour le renouvellement de 
l’Eglise, mouvement appelé la Réforme grégorienne (fin du I I e-début 

du 12e siècle).Tous les quatre sont en vue dans le décor contempo­
rain des églises de Rome (p.e. S. Clemente, S. Maria Immacolata à 
Ceri), où ils exemplifiaient les qualités importantes au clergé réforma­
teur notamment l’opposition à l’habitude de simonie et le développe­
ment d'un plus grand intérêt porté aux soins pastoraux. Donc, la 
décoration de la coupole sud peut être interprétée comme une affir­
mation des intérêts et des activités du mouvement réformateur et par 
extension, de l’église romaine. Ce n'est pas par hasard que les premiè­
res années du douzième siècle constituent un moment de rapproche­
ment entre Rome et Venise, dont la culmination a eu lieu dans les 
années I 120 quand la flotte vénitienne a participé aux Croisades, opé­
rant sous le vexille de Saint-Pierre.

T
he mosaics in the dôme of the south transept in the 
church of San Marco at Venice depict the standing 
figures of saints Nicholas, Clement, Biaise and 
Leonard, set against a plain gold background (fig. 1). Ail 

four saints are identified by Latin inscriptions. These fig­
ures hâve received comparatively little attention in the oth- 
erwise ample scholarly literature devoted to this church and 
to the meaning of its décorative programme. Otto Demus, 
for example, has dismissed them as “the most astonishing 
and most disappointing part of the décoration of San 
Marco”;1 and they hâve been similarly ail but ignored by 
Staale Sinding-Larsen, presumably because they could not 
be easily reconciled with his suggestion that the mosaics of 
the south transept should be interpreted in relation to the 
function of that space for the cérémonial entrances of the 
doge and government from the adjoining Palazzo Ducale.2 
Both authors make similar statements about the four being 
“state saints”, but neither offers any rationale for their spé­
cifie choice or placement here. Indeed, Demus seems to find 
their presence disturbing, an anomaly in an otherwise com­
préhensive iconographie programme, and cornes to the con­
clusion that “the only possible explanation is artistic 
bankruptcy, the breakdown of artistic leadership in this part 
of the church’s décoration”.3 While bearing in mind 
Sinding-Larsen’s caveat that “anything interesting that can 
said about the twelfth-century System of mosaics in San 
Marco is extremely hypothetical and will probably remain 
so for want of documentation”,4 this paper will none the 
less propose that there does exist a common element which 
serves to link the four saints in question, and that, conse- 
quently, the mosaics of the south dôme should be inter­
preted in the larger context of political and ecclesiastical 

relations between Venice and the papacy in the first half of 
the twelfth century.

The construction of the présent church of San Marco 
is thought to hâve been initiated by Doge Domenico 
Contarini (1043-70), and completed in the time of Doge 
Vitale Falier (1084-96).5 Its relationship to earlier struc­
tures on the same site remains the subject of considérable 
scholarly debate,6 but this problem has no bearing on the 
subject at hand. Most of the mosaic décoration of the inte- 
rior has been assigned to the twelfth century, and attrib- 
uted in part to mosaicists imported from Constantinople 
for this purpose, and in part to what Demus calls “the local 
workshop”, who may hâve been trained as apprentices un- 
der the Byzantine team which they subsequently replaced.7 
But, as the same author notes, the surviving documenta­
tion is “very meagre”,8 and the relative chronology remains 
controversial.9

Complicating any discussion is the issue which plagues 
ail studies of médiéval mosaics, namely that of restoration, 
and there is no escaping the fact that large areas of the San 
Marco décorations hâve been repaired, and in some in­
stances replaced completely, in subséquent centuries. This 
must also be the case for the mosaics in the south dôme, 
given the disturbances in the tesserae which are clearly vis­
ible in the gold background. In addition, the figure of St 
Thecla, one of the four female martyrs who occupy the 
pendentives beneath the dôme, bears the signature of 
Vincenzo Bastiani and the date of 1512.10 But while there 
is no doubt that the four male saints hâve at times been 
restored, probably in the fifteenth century and again in the 
nineteenth,11 there is nothing to suggest that their identi­
fies hâve been changed, nor that there were any additional 
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éléments in the composition which 
hâve subsequently been lost. Conse- 
quently, the current configuration may 
be assumed to reflect the original in­
tention, with the four saints appearing 
somewhat “awash” in a great sea of 
golden tesserae. Demus attributes them 
to the “local workshop” which under- 
took the general décoration of the choir 
chapels and transepts, probably in the 
first half of the twelfth century.12

Declining to undertake any analy­
sis of their choice by dismissing them 
simply as “state saints” is, however, not 
entirely satisfactory. For one thing, it 
is not entirely true! While a case can 
be made for St Nicholas, and possibly 
also for St Clement, in this regard, 
Leonard and Biaise hâve little if any 
overt connection with Venice, and their 
cuits were never of particular impor­
tance in the city.13 But surely some ra- 
tionale must hâve prompted their 
choice and the decision to devote an 
entire dôme to their depiction. The un- 
derlying currents of meaning which 
hâve been found elsewhere in the déco­
rative programme of San Marco, and 
which characterize médiéval church 
décoration in general, suggest that such 
decisions were rarely taken whimsically.

There is in fact a common thread 
which serves to link the four saints in 
question. Put simply, ail were impor­
tant to, and had their cuits promoted by, the Roman church 
in the late years of the eleventh and the first quarter of the 
twelfth century, in conjunction with the movement for ec- 
clesiastical independence and moral renewal known as the 
Gregorian Reform.14 Named for one of its principal papal 
proponents, Gregory VII (1072-85), this issue dominated 
ecclesiastical discussions, as well as church-state relation- 
ships, for the best part of a century. It is thus no surprise to 
discover that ail four of the south dôme saints are also de- 
picted prominently in Roman church décorations executed 
at this time, in particular those associated with the era of 
popes Urban II (1088-99), Paschal II (1099-1118) and 
Calixtus II (1119-24).

The case is perhaps most évident for St Nicholas (fig. 
2). Although his cuit was known in the west from a com- 
paratively early date,15 it received an enormous impetus

Figure I. South dôme of S. Marco, Venice (Photo: Osvaldo Bohm).

when his relies were brought from Myra (in south-western 
Turkey)16 to Bari in the year 1087.17The great shrine built 
to house them became an important site for pilgrimage, and 
in particular a place where Crusaders stopped to pray be- 
fore setting sail from Apulia to the Holy Land. No doubt 
their dévotion to Nicholas was due in part to the fortuit- 
ous presence of his relies at their point of departure, but 
also in part to his réputation as a patron of seafarers, and 
in part to the story which related how he had saved a man 
named Basil from Saracen captivity.18 Clearly he was a good 
friend to those setting sail to do battle for Christianity in 
the Middle East.

But the cuit was also espoused by Pope Urban II, who 
in September 1089 travelled to Bari to place the relies of- 
ficially in their new home with his own hand; and in Oc- 
tober 1098 the same pontiff would return to the “corpus
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beati Nicolai”, where he convened an important church 
council attended by 185 bishops.19 Urban II appears to 
hâve adopted Nicholas as a personal patron saint, and it is 
worth noting that a church in Rome controlled by the 
Pierleoni family, his principal supporters in the city, was 
rededicated by the pontiff to Nicholas at this time.20 Also 
from this period ca. 1100 corne two prominent depictions 
of Nicholas in the mural décorations of Roman churches 
closely linked with proponents of the Gregorian Reform: 
the lower church of San Clemente and S. Maria Immaco- 
lata at Ceri, the latter located just outside the city to the 
northwest.21 It is not entirely clear why the cuit of this saint 
should subsequently hâve been adopted more widely by the 
Reform party in Rome, but such appears to hâve been the 
case. It is possible that Nicholas’ well-known acts of char- 
ity, his rédemption of prisoners, and his healing miracles 

caused him to be adopted as a model for 
the practice of pastoral care now expected 
from a bishop.22 Whatever the reason, his 
cuit was continued by subséquent pon- 
tiffs associated with the Reform move­
ment. In November 1105 Pope Paschal 
II removed the shrine church at Bari 
from the jurisdiction of the local arch- 
bishop and brought it under the direct 
authority of the papacy.23 Perhaps more 
significantiy, following the Concordat of 
Worms in 1122, which was viewed by 
the papacy as a significant victory in its 
long struggle with the German emperors 
over the issue of clérical investiture, Pope 
Calixtus II inaugurated a new papal 
chapel dedicated to Nicholas in the 
Lateran palace at Rome. Decorated in the 
following decade, it featured an image of 
the saint flanked by the standing figures 
of eight popes who were closely associ­
ated with the Reform movement.24

St Clement (fig. 3), an early successor 
to Peter as bishop of Rome,25 was an- 
other whose cuit was strongly promoted 
by the Reform papacy. This was probably 
due in large measure to his writings, both 
real and attributed, among them the im­
portant letter to the church at Corinth, 
which was considered a canonical text in 
some early compilations of the Bible (it 
appears, for example, in the Codex 
Alexandrinus). Of even greater signifi- 
cance, however, was the pseudo-Clemen- 

tine Récognitions, which narrated the story of Peters 
triumph over Simon Magus and thus constituted an im­
portant text for the Reform party’s campaign against the 
practice of simony (the purchase and sale of clérical of­
fices).26 Pope Paschal II had served as the titular priest of 
the Roman church of San Clemente prior to his élection 
to the papacy in 1099 — an élection which, significantiy, 
was held in that church;27 and the ancient basilica itself 
was completely rebuilt and lavishly decorated in the early 
years of the twelfth century, probably at papal instigation 
and expense.28 Even before that rebuilding, probably in the 
last decade of the eleventh century, the “lower church” of 
San Clemente was decorated with three large murais de- 
picting events related to the saint: the Mass of St Clem­
ent, the miracle of his tomb at Cherson, and the translation 
of his relies to the shrine church in Rome.29 Evidence of 
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interest in Clement at this time may 
also be found in the profusion of new 
texts pertaining to his cuit written by 
the cleric Léo Marsicanus, cardinal 
bishop of Ostia, including an account 
of the translation of the saints relies to 
Rome which was dedicated to Pope 
Paschal II.30 Of course it was the link 
to St Peter, and consequently to St 
Mark, which also made Clement of in­
terest to the Venetians.31 In the church 
of San Marco the two choir chapels to 
the left and right of the main apse are 
dedicated to Peter and Clement re- 
spectively, and their twelfth-century 
mosaics feature a narrative cycle of St 
Mark which sets forth the Venetian 
claim to both spiritual and temporal 
authority over the upper Adriatic.32 
But the décorations of the Cappella di 
S. Clemente also include one épisode 
from the legend of this pope,33 and its 
altar could boast of a relie,34 probably 
acquired in the year 8 67.35 However, 
Clement’s cuit in Venice stemmed ul- 
timately from his importance to the 
see of Rome, an importance which 
peaked in the early years of the twelfth 
century.

Of less obvious importance to 
Venice, but also of interest to the Re- 
form party in Rome, were the cuits of 
saints Biaise and Leonard. Biaise (fig. 
4), a fourth-century martyr and bishop 
of Sebaste,36 was another “model” bishop, famous as a 
healer, particularly for diseases of the throat, and perhaps 
also cited in the campaign against simony.37 His vénéra­
tion was introduced to western Europe at Rome in the mid- 
tenth century,38 but became particularly important in the 
second half of the eleventh century, at which time images 
of Biaise were included in the mural décorations of the 
atrium of S. Maria Antiqua and the lower church of S. 
Clemente.39 Why this interest in his cuit should hâve blos- 
somed remains unknown, but it may possibly be connected 
to the fact that Biaise was credited with having cured Pope 
Léo IX (1048-54), one of the primary instigators of the 
Reform movement, early in his career, prior to his élection 
to the papacy.40 At about the same time, the saints name 
was introduced prominently into the liturgy of Fonte 
Avellana, an important centre of monastic renewal.41 The

Figure 3. St Clement, detail of south dôme of S. Marco, Venice (Photo: Osvaldo Bôhm).
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early twelfth century witnessed a profusion of new church 
dedications to Biaise in the city of Rome,42 and at the same 
time his cuit began to spread widely across western Europe. 
It is undoubtedly significant that scenes from his life were 
chosen to decorate the apse of the church at Berzé-la-Ville 
in Burgundy, a possession of the important monastery of 
Cluny which served as a major focus of the Reform move- 

43 ment.
Of the four figures in the south dôme, St Leonard of 

Noblac (fig. 5), a sixth-century hermit from the area of 
Limoges in France,44 is perhaps the least well known, and 
he is only rarely found depicted in médiéval Italian church 
décorations. But once again, a significant flurry of interest 
can be documented in the early years of the twelfth cen­
tury, related to both Cluniac and papal sponsorship of the 
reconquista in Spain and the Crusades in the Middle East.

22



Osborne /The Hagiographie Programme of the Mosaics in the South Dôme of San Marco atVenice

The shrine of St Leonard at Noblac (modem Saint-Léonard- 
de-Noblat) became an important stop on the pilgrimage 
route across central France from Vézelay to Santiago de 
Compostela, and is listed as such in the famous twelfth- 
century Pilgrim’s Guide.45 In addition, Leonard became of 
spécial interest to a particular category of peregrinus: those 
who had taken up the cross to fight for Christianity against 
Islam, for he played an important rôle as a liberator of pris- 
oners. This aspect of his cuit received an enormous boost 
in the first decade of the twelfth century, when he was cred- 
ited with having saved one very prominent prisoner, 
Bohemond of Antioch, who was captured in August 1100 
and spent some three years in captivity before being 
ransomed in 1103. Returning to Europe to raise a new army, 
Bohemond actively promoted the cuit of St Leonard, and 
made his own pilgrimage to Noblac in 1106, in order to 

record his dévotion.46 While it is not 
known precisely when the cuit of St 
Leonard arrived in Italy, his image ap- 
pears shortly after 1100 in the murais of 
S. Maria Immacolata at Ceri,47 a church 
closely connected to the Reform party 
in Rome; and from approximately the 
same period dates the foundation of the 
abbey of S. Leonardo di Siponto, an im­
portant hospice for pilgrims en route to 
the Holy Land, located near Man- 
fredonia in Apulia.48 At San Marco in 
Venice, in addition to the mosaic in the 
south dôme, the chapel in the east bay 
of the south transept (now the Cappella 
del Santissimo Sacramento) was also 
dedicated to Leonard, perhaps implying 
the possession of a relie, although none 
is recorded. A carved relief depicting the 
standing figure of the saint, datable to 
the mid-thirteenth century, once stood 
above the altar of this chapel. It was later 
moved to the north façade of the church, 
probably in 1618 when the dedication 
of the chapel was changed.45

Thus, ail four saints depicted in the 
south dôme of San Marco can be seen 
to hâve had one important aspect in 
common. In each instance their cuit was 
promoted by the Gregorian Reform 
movement in the early years of the 
twelfth century,50 a promotion which 
found tangible expression in the con- 
temporary décoration of churches in

Rome and, it would seem, also in Venice. Rather than dis- 
missing the hagiographie programme of the south dôme 
as the unfortunate resuit of “artistic bankruptcy”, let’s for 
the moment assume that the authorities responsible for the 
décoration of San Marco did hâve some cohérent idea of 
what they were doing. If so, such a prominent public state- 
ment of support for the Reform papacy must surely hâve 
been undertaken with full knowledge of its political im­
plications, and thus seems likely to hâve been produced at 
a time when Venice enjoyed good relations with Rome. But 
such was not always the case! What, then, are the implica­
tions of the subject matter for the dating of the mosaics in 
the south dôme, and in particular for the general opinion 
that they should be assigned to the first half of the twelfth 
century? In order to answer this question, it will first be 
necessary to examine some of the political and religious fac-

23



RACAR/XXII, 1-2 / 1995

Figure 5. St Leonard, detail of south dôme of S. Marco, Venice (Photo: Osvaldo Bôhm).

tors which influenced Venetian state 
policy.

The movement for ecclesiastic re- 
form which takes its name from Pope 
Gregory VII was, to a large extent, an 
ontgrowth of the movement for monas- 
tic reform which originated in the early 
tenth century at the Burgundian abbey 
of Cluny.51 In general terms, the doges 
of Venice could boast of a long history 
of support for Bénédictine monasticism. 
As early as 819, less than a decade after 
the administrative capital ofVenetia had 
been transferred from Malamocco to 
Rialto, Doge Agnellus Partecipacius 
(811-27) had assisted in the foundation 
of the abbey of S. Ilario, located on the 
mainland at Fusina.52 There he and his 
son Justinian (doge 827-29), as well as 
three later doges, would be buried.53 In 
the second half of the tenth century, 
Doge Pietro I Orseolo (976-78) would 
take this relationship one step further, 
renouncing his ducal office and travel­
ling to the Cluniac house of Saint- 
Michel-de-Cuxa in the Pyrenees, where 
he would spend his remaining years as a 
monk.54 In 982, one of his companions 
in this enterprise, Giovanni Morosini, 
returned to Venice where he persuaded 
doge Tribuno Menio to found the im­
portant monastery of S. Giorgio Mag- 
giore, facing the Palazzo Ducale across 
the bacino^ But the lagoon seems to
hâve remained comparatively untouched by the Cluniac 
reforms until the last years of the eleventh century, when 
Doge Vitale Michiel (1096-1101) presented the church of 
SS. Cornelio e Cipriano at Malamocco to the important 
abbey of S. Benedetto di Polirone, the principal centre of 
the Reform movement in northern Italy. The political sig­
nificance of this act should not be underestimated, and it 
is no surprise that the new foundation grew rapidly in 
wealth and importance.56

The most important “player” in the Gregorian Reform 
movement was, of course, the papacy itself, and this insti­
tution enjoyed particularly strong ties to Cluny in the sec­
ond half of the eleventh century, culminating with the 
élection of Pope Urban II, a former prior of the Burgundian 
abbey, in the year 1088. At first glance it might appear that 
the Venetians would hâve regarded the papacy as a natural 
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ally in their attempt to thwart the ambitions of the Holy 
Roman Empire and the patriarchate of Aquileia to domi- 
nate the political and ecclesiastical affairs of north-eastern 
Italy. However, such an alliance was slow to evolve, since 
for much of the late eleventh century Venice perceived its 
most significant threat as coming from the Norman adven- 
turers who had occupied southern Italy and Sicily; and in 
the years 1081-85 the Venetian fleet had joined the forces 
of the Byzantine emperor Alexios I Komnenos in oppos- 
ing Norman attempts to secure a foothold on the eastern 
shore of the Adriatic.57 Because popes such as Gregory VII 
were dépendent on Norman support in their own struggle 
with the German emperors, Venice’s attitude toward the 
papacy remained circumspect. The issue was additionally 
complicated by the need to constrain the ambitions of the 
patriarchate of Grado.58 Although in 1044 the doge had 
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joined with the patriarch in the pétition to Pope Benedict 
IX, on the issue of whether Venetia and Istria should be 
under the jurisdiction of Grado or of the rival and pro-im- 
perial patriarch of Aquileia,55 there was a perceived dan­
ger in the former becoming too powerful - and such indeed 
became the case in the middle of the eleventh century, 
when the patriarch Domenico Marango, an active mem- 
ber of the Reform movement and close friend of cardinal 
Humbert of Silva Candida, rose to a position of considér­
able influence at the papal courts of Léo IX, Nicholas II 
and Gregory VII.60

This chill between Venice and the papacy began to thaw 
only at the end of the century, under the doge Vitale Michiel 
(1096-1101) and the patriarch Pietro Badoer (elected ca. 
1091), a staunch ally of both the Reform movement and 
Pope Urban II (1088-99), but also a member of a promi­
nent Venetian family and thus more attuned to the city’s 
political interests than the majority of his predecessors.61 
An event which was of considérable importance to this pro- 
cess was the First Crusade, preached by Urban II in 1095.62 
Against considérable odds, the crusaders had eventually 
succeeded in reaching their goal, the city of Jérusalem, which 
fell to their forces in July 1099. Although Venice had at 
first remained wary of this enterprise, it soon became ap­
parent that more active participation would be profitable 
both politically and economically, and it seemed unwise to 
allow commercial rivais such as Pisa and Genoa to gain the 
advantage. Thus, in the autumn of 1099, a large Venetian 
fleet set sail for the eastern Mediterranean, commanded by 
the doge’s son, Giovanni Michiel. This expédition is per- 
haps best known for its claim to hâve discovered the “au- 
thentic” relies of St Nicholas at Myra, although it did reach 
the Crusader State in the summer of 1100 and assisted in 
the capture of the city of Haifa.63 A decade later, in 1110, 
a second Venetian fleet, commanded by Doge Ordelaffo 
Falier, would provide the naval support needed to effect the 
capture of Sidon.64

But the high point of Venetian involvement in the early 
crusades came in the years 1122-25, significantly at a time 
when relations with Constantinople had been severely 
strained by the refusai of the emperor John II Komnenos 
(1118-43) to renew the trading privilèges granted earlier 
in the chrysobull oihis father Alexios. The fleet, commanded 
by Doge Domenico Michiel (1118-29), won a great vic- 
tory off the coast at Ascalon in the spring of 1123 and the 
following year played a major rôle in the siégé and capture 
of the city ofTyre. In 1125 they returned to Venice trium- 
phant, and bringing more relies, including those of St 
Isidore, acquired on the Aegean island of Chios.65 Most 
importantly, however, this had been an official “Crusade”, 

undertaken at the exhortation of Pope Calixtus II (1119- 
24), who had sent to the doge the vexillum of St Peter.66 
Calixtus II was another in the long line of popes who were 
deeply committed to the principles of the Gregorian Re­
form. He had been elected in a papal conclave held at the 
abbey of Cluny, and his pontificate witnessed what was 
widely perceived at the time as a triumphant victory for 
the Reform papacy over the German emperors, enshrined 
in the Concordat of Worms (1122). It may be no coincid­
ence that the same years also witnessed the first appearance 
in Venice of the “canons regular”, the organization of secu- 
lar clergy reformed along monastic fines which had been 
established by the Lateran synod of 1059. Their Venetian 
canonry of S. Maria délia Carità was founded in 1121, by 
a bull of Calixtus II, and more such houses would follow 
in the course of the succeeding décades.67 The thaw in re­
lations was now complété, and with only a few minor hic- 
cups, Venice would remain on comparatively good terms 
with the papacy over the next half century, supporting the 
Lombard League against the German emperor Frederick I, 
and hosting the “Peace of Venice” in 1177, by which 
Frederick I and Pope Alexander III brought to an end their 
eighteen-year schism.68

This historical synopsis establishes certain parameters 
for the dating of any mosaic programme which would be 
interpreted as promoting the Gregorian Reform, and the 
related activity of the Crusades. While such a formai ex­
pression is unlikely to hâve been made in the last third of 
the eleventh century, contemporary with the church’s re­
building, the circumstances of the early décades of the 
twelfth century appear to hâve been most propitious for 
such an enterprise, and perhaps particularly so in the pe- 
riod ca. 1 120-25. These years can be regarded as a high 
point for the fortunes of the Reform papacy, as well as the 
only moment in Venetian history when its fleet operated 
under the banner of St Peter. Thus, I venture to suggest 
that it was not the planners of the south dôme décorations 
who “broke down”, to use Demus’ term, in devising this 
deceptively simple programme. Rather, it has been modem 
art historians, who hâve failed to appreciate the forceful 
statement made by the conjunction of these spécifie saints, 
a statement which would not hâve been missed by a politi­
cally attuned audience in the twelfth century.
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